1981

## General Motors Acceptance Corp. v. Hector Martinez et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I

WHERE THE JURY HANGS FIVE TO THREE ON A VERY MATERIAL ISSUE A NEW TRIAL SHOULD BE GRANTED.

### POINT II

WHERE THE INSURED PAID THE PREMIUM; WAS TOLD THAT HE WAS FULLY INSURED; AND THE COMPANY HAD THE RIGHT TO TERMINATE THE AGREEMENT IN THIRTY DAYS IF IT CONCLUDES THE APPLICANT IS NOT ACCEPTABLE; AND THE COMPANY FAILS TO ACCEPT OR REJECT THE APPLICANT UNTIL EIGHT MONTHS AFTER THE LOSS OCCURRED; THE COMPANY MAY NOT THEN VOID THE POLICY BY CLAIMING A PRE-EXISTING PHYSICAL CONDITION (HIGH BLOOD PRESSURE).

### POINT III

WHERE THERE IS ADMITTEDLY NO FRAUD AND THE INSURED IS LED TO BELIEVE THAT HE IS INSURED, THE COMPANY CANNOT DENY COVERAGE AFTER THE LOSS IS INCURRED.

### POINT IV

GENERAL MOTORS ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION AND STREATOR CHEVROLET ARE EQUALLY RESPONSIBLE BY REASON OF THE CONDITIONAL SALES CONTRACT AND THE CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE.

### POINT V

THE GENERAL AGENT, REX ELTON, WAS REQUIRED TO INQUIRE AS TO THE APPLICANT'S HEALTH AND TO ADVISE HIM OF THE VOIDABLE CLAUSES IN THE POLICY.

### POINT VI

THE GENERAL MOTORS ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION IS NOT ENTITLED TO ANY ATTORNEY'S FEES.

## NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action to replevy a new Chevrolet automobile purchased under a Conditional Sales Contract. The contract provided for disability and life insurance. The Buyers cross-complained against the insurance company by reason of a total disability (kidney failure). The Insurance Company refused payment on the grounds of a unilateral clause alleging a pre-existing condition.

## DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was submitted to a Jury in the form of a Special Verdict. The Jury hung on the material Interrogatory five to three in the car buyer's (defendant's) favor. The trial Judge, Dean E. Conder, denied defendants' motion for Judgment on the Verdict and/or defendants' motion for a new trial. The trial Court further granted a directed Verdict in favor of General Motors Acceptance Corporation and Streater Chevrolet Company, Incorporated on the Conditional Sales Contract. From the denial of these motions the defendants, Hector Martinez and Manuel M. Rivera, file this appeal.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants seek a Judgment against the Great Equity Life Insurance Company in the amount of the balance due on



the Conditional Sales Contract or an order granting a New Trial by reason of the hung Jury Verdict.

#### MATERIAL FACTS OF THE CASE

On the 12th of September, 1978, Hector Martinez, age 19, purchased a Chevrolet automobile from Streator Chevrolet Company, Incorporated. By reason of the Conditional Sales Contract, Hector Martinez also purchased a life insurance policy and paid a premium therefore in the amount of \$97.40; said contract also acknowledged and provided for the purchase of disability, accident and health insurance and paid a premium therefore in the amount of \$189.81. The Conditional Sales Contract did provide that should Hector Martinez die or become totally disabled that the Great Equity Life Insurance Company of Chicago, Illinois would pay off the contract in its entirety, to wit: the sum of \$5,995.00. The Conditional Sales Contract is annexed hereto as Exhibit "A" and by reference made a part of this brief. The Conditional Sales Contract was assigned by Streator Chevrolet Company, Incorporated, forthwith and immediately to General Motors Acceptance Corporation. Payments were faithfully made by Hector Martinez as provided by the Conditional Sales Contract up to and including November 19, 1978. On this day, Hector Martinez entered the University of Utah Hospital with lung congestion and on this date the doctors at

the hospital diagnosed a complete kidney failure and determined that Hector Martinez, as a result thereof, was completely disabled; claims under the policy were promptly filed.

On or about July 12, 1979, General Motors Acceptance Corporation, filed a complaint herein seeking to replevy a Chevrolet automobile from Hector Martinez alleging that Hector Martinez was eight months delinquent in payments under the contract. Hector Martinez, who had been completely disabled for the eight month period, to wit: from November 19, 1978 to July 12, 1979, cross-complained against the Great Equity Life Insurance Company and Streater Chevrolet Company, Incorporated, and counterclaimed against General Motors Acceptance Corporation, a New York corporation, alleging that he was entitled to the benefits of the disability insurance as provided in the Contract, he having become disabled, the contract was to be completely paid by the Great Equity Life Insurance Company. The Great Equity Life Insurance Company admitted that there was insurance contracted and paid for, commencing September 12, 1978, but alleged that they were entitled to retroactively void the insurance coverage after the loss was incurred by reason of a unilateral clause pertaining to pre-existing conditions.

Hector Martinez relied on the coverage as was set out in the Conditional Sales Contract, which is as follows:

Address

common solely for the disclosure purposes of the Consumer Credit Protection Act.

Buyer (and Co-Buyer)—Name and Address (Include—County and Zip Code)

Seller—Name and Address

**STREATOR CHEVROLET COMPANY**  
**MAIN at 5th SOUTH**  
**SALT LAKE CITY, UTAH 84111**

The seller hereby sells, and the buyer (meaning all undersigned buyers, jointly and severally) hereby purchases, subject to the terms set forth below and upon the reverse side be the following property, delivery and acceptance of which in good order are hereby acknowledged by buyer, viz.:

New or Used	Year Model	No. Cyl.	Make Trade Name	Body Type — If Truck, Give GVW	Model No. or Series	Vehicle Identification No.

If truck—Describe bodies and, major items of equipment sold—

Buyer represents that the purchase of said property is primarily for personal, family or household ☒, agricultural ☐, business (other than agricultural) ☐ use (check one).

1. CASH PRICE (including any accessories, services and taxes imposed on the cash sale) ..... \$ 4500.00 (1)

2. TOTAL DOWNPAYMENT — Trade-in Make, Model, Year \$ 7.00 Gross Trade-in Allowance \$ 7.00 (Payoff - made by seller) Trade-in (Net) plus \$ 1000.00 Cash Downpayment ..... \$ 1000.00 (2)

3. UNPAID BALANCE OF CASH PRICE (Difference between Items 1 and 2) ..... \$ 3500.00 (3)

4. OTHER CHARGES

\*A. Cost of Required Physical Damage Insurance ..... \$ 7.00 (4A)

\*\*B. Cost of Optional Mechanical Breakdown Insurance ..... \$ 7.00 (4B)

BUYER MAY CHOOSE THE PERSON THROUGH WHICH THE INSURANCE IN A AND B IS TO BE OBTAINED.

C. Cost of Creditor Insurance for the term hereof.

COVERAGE OF THE BUYER BY ANY SUCH INSURANCE IS NOT REQUIRED BY SELLER.

CHECK CREDITOR  
INSURANCE DESIRED

FOR THE TERM HEREOF

\*\*\* ☒ Life ..... \$ 97.40 (4C)  
☒ Disability (Accident and Health) ..... \$ 189.81 (4C)  
☐ Other (describe) ..... \$ 7.00 (4C)

BUYER'S APPROVAL: I DESIRE TO OBTAIN THE CREDITOR INSURANCE CHECKED ABOVE FOR THE BUYER PROPOSED FOR INSURANCE.

9/12/78  
(Date)

Signature

(Buyer's Signature)

(Co-Buyer's Signature)

D. Official Fees (Describe) ..... **SALES TAX** ..... \$ 225.00 (4D)

E. License and/or Registration Fees (Itemize) ..... \$ 8.50 (4E)

F. Certificate of Title Fee ..... \$ INCL. (4F)

G. Other (Describe) ..... **DOC. FEE** ..... \$ 7.50 (4G)

5. UNPAID BALANCE—AMOUNT FINANCED (Sum of items 3 and 4) ..... \$ 4023.21 (5)

6. FINANCE CHARGE ..... \$ 956.79 (6)

7. TOTAL OF PAYMENTS (Sum of items 5 and 6) ..... \$ 4980.00 (7)

8. DEFERRED PAYMENT PRICE (Sum of items 1, 4 and 6) ..... \$ 5985.00 (8)

9. ANNUAL PERCENTAGE RATE ..... 14.55% (9)

10. PAYMENT SCHEDULE: The Total of Payments (Item 7) is payable at seller's office designated below or at such office of any assignee as may be hereafter designated in 36 instalments of \$ 138.75 each, commencing 10/12, 1978, and on the same day of each successive month thereafter, or as indicate in space below.

The certificate of insurance named General Motors Acceptance Corporation, a New York corporation, as the creditor-beneficiary and provided that should Hector Martinez, age 19, die or become disabled during the term of the Conditional Sales Contract that the Great Equity Life Insurance Company would pay the Conditional Sales Contract of and in its entirety. The Certificate further provided that the term of insurance would commence as of September 12, 1978 and would expire on the maturity date of the indebtedness subject to acceptance by the insurer and within thirty days there would be delivered to Hector Martinez a certificate of insurance more fully describing the insurance. No policy of insurance was ever delivered. No notice of acceptance or rejection of Hector Martinez as an insured was given within the thirty days. No premium was ever returned to Hector Martinez. (Tr.-163) (Tr.-170)

Eight months after Hector Martinez was disabled by kidney failure, to wit: On July 12, 1979, the Great Equity Life Insurance Company denied coverage under the insurance certificate claiming that Hector Martinez has a pre-existing condition, to wit: High blood pressure, which permitted them to retroactively void the policy after the loss had been incurred.

Dr. Duffy testified that high blood pressure was non-symptomatic (a silent killer) and that Hector Martinez would not be aware of the ensuing kidney failure (Tr.-43).

In this regard, the Court submitted to the Jury a special Interrogatory and the Jury by a five to three vote found that Hector Martinez did not know nor should he have known of the pre-existing physical condition exclusion referred to in the insurance policy. Other Interrogatories were presented to the Jury to which there was no dispute, to wit:

Did the Disability policy have a pre-existing condition exclusion . . . ?

This was undisputed.

Did Hector Martinez have an injury or illness for which medical diagnosis or treatment was required?

This was undisputed.

Did the injury or sickness of Mr. Martinez cause a loss within six months after the effective date of the disability policy?

This was undisputed.

Did Hector Martinez become totally disabled?

This was not only undisputed but was part of the proof required by Hector Martinez to recover in the case. The key question was answered by a majority in Hector Martinez's favor.

It is undisputed that all insurance premiums were paid in full (Tr.-20); that the insurance company had thirty (30) days to accept or reject Hector Martinez as an insured (See D-25); that coverage was denied eight months after the



loss occurred without a return of any premium whatsoever. (Tr.-163)

On July 12, 1979 Hector Martinez was denied coverage under the insurance certificate on the basis that he had a pre-existing condition and that there was a clause in the policy that if Hector Martinez had a pre-existing condition that the insurance company could void the policy.

On November 19, 1978, Hector Martinez was admitted to the University of Utah Hospital with lung congestion at which time he suffered a complete kidney failure and became fully and completely disabled.

The Jury by a five to three vote found that Hector Martinez did not know nor should he have known of the pre-existing physical condition exclusion referred to in the insurance policy. Irrespective of this, Judge Dean E. Conder entered Judgment of No Cause of Action in favor of the insurance company and against Hector Martinez.

The general agent, Rex Elton, testified that he made no inquiries regarding the health of Hector Martinez (Tr-161, Tr.-156). He further testified that there was no fraud or deception of any type or nature by the insured (Tr.-155) and that he had no memory of any delivery of a certificate of insurance to Hector Martinez (Tr.-156) (See also Tr.-169).

When the insurance company denied coverage, General Motors Acceptance Corporation filed an action in replevin

in which they sought to immediately recover possession of the 1977 Chevrolet automobile. The finance company also sued for a deficiency judgment and extensive attorney's fees. The defendants, by third-party complaint made the Great Equity Life Insurance Company a third-party defendant and counterclaimed against General Motors Acceptance Corporation on the grounds that the finance company was a direct assignee of Streater Chevrolet and on the further ground that the finance company was the beneficiary under the insurance policy and as such had accepted payments and premiums and by reason of the assignments, the documents, the insurance policy, that the finance company was equally liable. Judge Conder directed a verdict in favor of General Motors Acceptance Corporation, and from this order the defendants appeal.

It is undisputed that the Great Equity Life Insurance Company accepted a good and sufficient premium; that they led Hector Martinez to honestly believe that he was fully and completely covered; that they failed to make the insurance certificate available to Hector Martinez or to inform him of the contents and that he was unaware of any clause by which the insurance company could unilaterally declare the policy void until after the loss had been incurred. By not informing Hector Martinez of their acceptance or rejection as an insured within thirty (30) days

as provided in the certificate, and the contract having been completed in good faith, the insurance was in full force and effect when the loss occurred. The Great Equity Life Insurance Company having plead an exception or exclusion as a defense, they had the burden of persuasion and the burden of proof to sustain their position. The Jury by a five to three vote found that they did not sustain their burden of proof and the Court should have granted a mistrial in favor of Hector Martinez.

Rex Elton failed and refused to ask Hector Martinez any questions whatsoever concerning his health even though there was a Buyer's Age Statement and Health Declaration as set forth in the Conditional Sales Contract:

**BUYER'S AGE STATEMENT AND HEALTH DECLARATION** (Applicable Where a Charge Has Been Authorized in 4C Above and Insurance Under Prudential Group Policy GL-350 is Proposed).

Age last birthday of Buyer Proposed for Life Insurance? ☐ Under 65

I, the Buyer Proposed for Life Insurance, understand that the insurance is only available to a buyer who makes the following declarations to induce Prudential to effect such insurance: I do hereby declare that within the past three months (1) I have not consulted or been under the care of a doctor or other practitioner for cancer, and (2) I have not been confined in a hospital or other institution because of any condition of the heart, brain, liver, kidneys or lungs. I hereby authorize any physician or hospital to disclose to Prudential all information concerning my medical history prior to the date of this contract.

Signature



(Signature of Buyer Proposed for Life Insurance)

In addition thereto, there evidently was issued a life insurance and disability insurance certificate which Rex Elton had no memory of ever delivering to Hector Martinez and in addition thereto he had no recollection of ever mailing same to Hector Martinez. (Tr.-150) (Tr.-157)



The Signer(s) of the contract hereby take(s) notice that group credit life insurance coverage and/or group credit accident and health insurance coverage will be applicable to this contract if so marked on the front of the contract and each such type of coverage will be written by the insurance company name above. This insurance, subject to acceptance by the insurer covers only the person(s) signing the request for such insurance. The amount of charge is indicate for each type of credit insurance to be purchased. The term of insurance will commence as of the date the indebtedness is incurred and will expire on the date 15 days after the original scheduled maturity date of the indebtedness. Subject to acceptance by the insurer and within 30 days, there will be delivered to the insured debtor a certificate of insurance more fully describing the insurance, in the event of prepayment of the indebtedness, a refund of insurance charges will be made where due.

Applicant \_\_\_\_\_ Witness \_\_\_\_\_ Date \_\_\_\_\_  
Co-Signer \_\_\_\_\_

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I

WHERE THE JURY HANGS FIVE TO THREE ON A VERY MATERIAL ISSUE  
A NEW TRIAL SHOULD BE GRANTED.

### POINT II

WHERE THE INSURED PAID THE PREMIUM; WAS TOLD THAT HE WAS  
FULLY INSURED; AND THE COMPANY HAD THE RIGHT TO TERMINATE  
THE AGREEMENT IN THIRTY DAYS IF IT CONCLUDES THE APPLICANT  
IS NOT ACCEPTABLE; AND THE COMPANY FAILS TO ACCEPT OR REJECT  
THE APPLICANT UNTIL EIGHT MONTHS AFTER THE LOSS OCCURRED;  
THE COMPANY MAY NOT THEN VOID THE POLICY BY CLAIMING A PRE-  
EXISTING PHYSICAL CONDITION (HIGH BLOOD PRESSURE).

### POINT III

WHERE THERE IS ADMITTEDLY NO FRAUD AND THE INSURED IS LED  
TO BELIEVE THAT HE IS INSURED, THE COMPANY CANNOT DENY  
COVERAGE AFTER THE LOSS IS INCURRED.

POINT IV

GENERAL MOTORS ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION AND STREATOR  
CHEVROLET ARE EQUALLY RESPONSIBLE BY REASON OF THE CONDI-  
TIONAL SALES CONTRACT AND THE CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE.

POINT V

THE GENERAL AGENT, REX ELTON, WAS REQUIRED TO INQUIRE AS  
TO THE APPLICANT'S HEALTH AND TO ADVISE HIM OF THE VOIDABLE  
CLAUSES IN THE POLICY.

POINT VI

THE GENERAL MOTORS ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION IS NOT ENTITLED  
TO ANY ATTORNEY'S FEES.

POINT I

WHERE THE JURY HANGS FIVE TO THREE ON A VERY MATERIAL ISSUE  
A NEW TRIAL SHOULD BE GRANTED.

The Jury found by a 5 to 3 vote in favor of Hector Martinez and against the Great Equity Life Insurance Company (the insurance company failed to sustain their burden of proof) in the following particulars:

Interrogatory No. 2: Did Hector Martinez know or should he have known of the pre-existing physical condition exclusion referred to in question 1.

Yes 3

No 5

Great Equity's principal witness was Rex Elton, car salesman, insurance agent and employee of Streater Chevrolet Company (Tr.-146), who testified as follows:

Q: Do you recall dealing with Hector Martinez, the gentleman behind me--

A: No, sir. (Tr.-150)

Q: If I understand you right you have no memory of waiting on Hector Martinez at all.

A: That's correct.

Q: No memory of him being in your office?

A: No, sir.

Q: And if I understand you further the best of your recollection, no questions regarding health of any type or nature were asked of Hector Martinez?

A: That's correct.

Q: You did evidently handle the execution of Plaintiff's Exhibit 1?

A: Yes, sir. (Tr.-157)

Q: Did you have Hector Martinez sign any type of an application for insurance with Great Equity Insurance Company?

A: Only thing they signed is on the Conditional Sales Contract. (Tr.-157)

Q: You don't know whether or not a policy of insurance was mailed to him or not do you?

A: I can only tell you what is normally done. (Tr.-158)

Q: You never asked Hector Martinez if he had (a pre-existing condition)?

A: No, sir. (Tr.-161)

Q: He looked healthy to you, didn't he?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: You were happy to insure him and take his money? Isn't that true?

A: Yes, sir. (Tr.-161)

Q: Well, as an agent, didn't you receive a commission for --

Mr. Hansen: Raise the same objection.

Mr. Miner: I think it's admissible, your Honor. Goes to his credibility, and bias and prejudice.

The Court: I don't think so. Sustained.

Mr. Miner: It was to your advantage to sell this particular policy to Hector Martinez monetarily?

Mr. Hansen: Same form of question really.

The Court: Sustained. (Tr.-159)

Q: Do you know whether or not there was ever any refund of any premium to Hector Martinez, of your own knowledge?

A: No, sir.

The Jury found in favor of Hector Martinez and against the Great Equity Life Insurance Company that the policy of insurance was never delivered to Hector Martinez, and therefore he did not know and could not know of the pre-existing condition exclusion existing in the policy. The legal effect of the Jury's findings are:

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