Brigham Young University Law School
BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (1965 –)

1982

General Motors Acceptance Corp. v. Hector
Martinez et al : Brief of Plaintiff-Respondent
Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE ..... 

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT .. 

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL • . 

STATEMENT OF FACTS. 

ARGUMENT. . 

POINT I WHETHER A PURCHASER OF A MOTOR VEHICLE 
UNDER A CONDITIONAL SALE CONTRACT, WHICH 
PROVIDES FOR THE FINANCING OF A PREMIUM 
OF A DISABILITY INSURANCE POLICY BY THE 
FINANCING INSTITUTION IS ENTITLED TO 
WITHHOLD PAYMENTS ON THE CONTRACT TO THE 
FINANCING INSTITUTION WHEN THE DISABILITY 
CARRIER DISPUTES THE RIGHT OF THE 
DISABLED PURCHASER TO CLAIM THE BENEFITS 

1 

2 

2 

2 

7 

OF THE POLICY . . • . • . . . . . • • • • . 7 

PO_INT II WHE'rHER A PARTY TO A CONTRACT AUTHOR­
IZING RECOVERY OF ATTORNEYS FEES 
WAIVES THE RIGHT TO OBTAIN SUCH FEES 
BY FAILING TO PRESENT EVIDENCE THEREOF 
BEFORE THE JURY BUT THEREAFTER PRESENTS 
EVIDENCE TO THE COURT . . . . . . . . • 11 

POINT III CERTAIN ALLEGATIONS OF COUNSEL.FOR 
DEFENDANT IN HIS STATEMENT OF FACTS ARE 
MISLEADING AND CONFUSING. • . 16 

CONCLUSION. . 18 

CERTIFICATE OF DELIVERY . • e 2Q 

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services 
Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library. 

 Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.



TABLE OF CASES 

Cluff v. Culmer, 
556 P.2d 498 (Utah 1976). • • . • . . . • • . • • 13 

Continental Bank & Trust Com an v. Stewart, 
4 Utah 2d 228, 291 P.2d 890 1955). . ••• 9, 10 

F.M.A. Financial Corporation v. Build, Inc., 
17 Utah 2d 80, 404 P.2d 670 (1965) •.... 

Freed Finance Company v. Stoker Motor Company, 

13 

537 P.2d 1039 (Utah 1975} ••••••...• 12, 13, 16 

Gardner v. Christiansen, 
622 P.2d 782 (Utah 1980). 

Jones v. Hinkle, 
611 P.2d 733 (Utah 1980). 

Minshew v. Chevron Oil Company, 
575 P.2d 192 (Utah 1978) ••. 

Provo City Corp. v. Cropper, 
28 Utah 2d 1, 497 P.2d 629 (1972) ... 

14, 15, 16 

9 

9 

15 

Provo City Corp. v. Nielson Scott Company, Inc. , 
603 P.2d 803 (Utah 1979) ••.••... 

Richards v. Hodson, 
26 Utah 2d 113, 485 P.2d 1044 (1971). 

Rushing v. Lovelace - Bataan Health Program, 
598 P.2a 211 (New Mex. 1979) .•••••• 

Scott v. Metro~olitan Life, 
398 P.2a 82 (oJa. 1964> •.••• 

9' 11 

• • • • • • 12 

9 

• • • • • • 11 

Thatcher v. Industrial Commission, 
115 Utah 568, 207 P.2d 178 (1949) . . . . . . . . . . 13 

Walker v. Sandwick, 
548 P.2d 1273 (Utah 1976) .••• . . . . . . • 11 

Wallace v. Build, Inc., 
16 utafi 2a 4or;-m P.2a 699 (1965) . 12, 13 

Wingets v. Bitters, 
2$ Utah 2d 231, 500 P.2d 1007 (1972) ....•••••. 9 

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services 
Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library. 

 Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE 

GENERAL MOTORS ACCEPTANCE 
CORPORATION, a New York 
Corporation, 

Plaintiff-Respondent, 

vs. 

S'rATE OF UTAH 

HECTOR MARTINEZ and MANUEL M. 
RIVERA, 

Defendants-Appellants, 

vs. 

GREAT EQUITY LIFE INSURANCE 
COMPANY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS; 
STREATOR CHEVROLET COMPANY, 
INC.: AL BARRUTIA; BRENT H. 
JENSEN; and E.C. ROSEBOROUGH, 

Third-Party Defendants­
Respondents. 

Case No. 18072 

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT 
GENERAL MOTORS ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION 

NATURE OF THE CASE 

Plaintiff, General Motors Acceptance Corporation, 

(hereinafter "GMAC") commenced an action in replevin against 

Defendants, Hector Martinez and Manuel Rivera after default in 

payments under a conditional sale contract. Defendants brought 

action against Third-Party Defendant Great Equity Life Insurance 
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Company (hereinafter "Great Equity") to compel the insurance 

carrier to make the payments under a disability policy purchased by 

Defendant, Hector Martinez. Great Equity denied the claim due to 

a preexisting condition and corresponding exlusion in the policy. 

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT 

At the conclusion of all the evidence, the Court granted a 

directed verdict in favor of GMAC and thereafter, allowed 

attorney's fees of $2,500.00. 

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL 

Respondent, GMAC, seeks an affirmation of the verdict and of 

the award of attorney's fees. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

On September 12, 1978, Hector Martinez and Manuel M. Rivera, 

Defendants and Appellants contracted with Streator Chevrolet 

Company Incorporated to purchase a 1977 Chevrolet Malibu. See 

Plaintiff's Exhibit "l". At the time of executing the 

conditional sale contract, Hector Martinez also arranged purchase 

of a policy of life and disability insurance through Great Equity 

Life Insurance Company of Chicago to pay off the balance of the 

contract in the event of his subsequent death or disability. See 

Defendant's Exhibit "17", R-480. The sales contract was then 

assigned by Streator to Plaintiff-Respondent, General Motors 

Acceptance Corporation for financing of the vehicle and insurance 

premiums. R-358, 368. 
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Subsequent to the purchase of the vehicle, the Defendant, 

Hector Martinez, made two payments on the contract, and 

thereafter, according to the evidence, became disabled as a 

consequence of a kidney failure. {R. 456). Hector Martinez then 

made application through Streator Chevrolet and the insurance 

carrier to make the payments because of a suffered disability. 

Upon receipt of the notice of the claimed disability, GMAC 

deferred collection efforts on its contract while the insurance 

carrier, Great Equity Life, conducted an investigation to 

determine whether the disability was within the terms of the 

policy. ( R. 3 7 9 ). 

In July, 1979, GMAC was advised by Great Equity that it was 

denying coverage to Mr. Martinez. See Defendant's Exhibit "23". 

GMAC then notified Mr. Martinez of the denial and sought payment 

from Defendants under the contract. See Defendant's Exhibit 

"15". Upon failure of the payments, GMAC sought to recover 

possession of its collateral. 

GMAC attempted, on two occasions, to obtain summary judgment 

to allow it recover the vehicle but the same was refused forcing 

GMAC to go to tr i al. ( R • 6 8 , 6 9 ; R. 13 9 , 1 4 0 ) • At the con c 1 us ion 

of all the evidence and prior to submission of the matter to the 

jury, Judge Dean Condor ruled in favor of General Motors 

Acceptance Corporation, granting it judgment and allowed the 

issues between Hector Martinez and Great Equity Life to go to the 

jury. (R. 525; R. 532), 
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Because counsel for appellants persists in trying to suggest 

that GMAC somehow has ties to Streator and Great Equity that make 

GMAC responsible for the nonpayment of the insurance carrier, 

counsel has felt obliged to set forth the policies and procedures 

of GMAC generally and as applied to this contract and as 

supported by the testimony of Plaintiff's agent, Morris Keetch, 

who testified at trial, without contravention. These policies 

are reviewed with Plaintiff's agent, Morris Keetch, at pages 354 

through 380 of the Record. 

Plaintiff, General Motors Acceptance Corporation, as applied 

to this case, is in the bu~iness of purchasing retail installment 

sale contracts from automobile dealers upon sales of motor 

vehicles to customers. Although GMAC negotiates arrangements 

with automobile dealets for acquiring retail installment sale 

contracts, no dealer is under any obligation to utilize the 

services of GMAC. Likewise, GMAC will provide forms and 

advertising literature to the dealer but such forms need not be 

used by the dealer except when the dealer intends to use GMAC for 

financing. 

No dealer, doing business with GMAC, nor any customer of 

any dealer is under any obligation to submit any contract to 

GMAC and the dealer and customer are at liberty to work out any 

financing arrangements agreeable between them. The customer is 

entitled to utilize a bank or any other financing institution 

and the dealer is authorized to recommend or use any source of 

-4-
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financing, including the carrying of the contract on his own, if 

desired. 

GMAC does not require as a prerequisite to accepting a 

contract for financing that a customer arrange for credit life 

or disability insurance. Such arrangement is strictly optional 

with the customer. Also, GMAC does not select the insurance 

carrier for the customer, if insurance is selected, nor does it 

obtain any compensation from the premiums paid, except inci­

dentally by interest charges upon the amount of premium which 

may be financed under the contract. The financing institution, 

in this case GMAC, would be named the beneficiary under the 

contract in the event the life or disability portion of the 

contract should be called into effect. GMAC would then be paid 

its monthly payments during the period. of disability, or in the 

event of loss of life, the balance on the contract. 

Upon receipt of a contract by a dealer for acceptance by 

GMAC, Plaintiff, in its course of business, checks the same for 

sufficiency of information, accuracy of computation, and 

compliance with local law. At the presentation of the contract 

to GMAC, GMAC reserves the right to accept or reject the same 

and has no obligation to assume the contract forwarded by the 

dealer. 

At no time does GMAC become involved in the negotiations 

of the price or other arrangements on the contract nor does it 

dictate the terms thereof to the dealer or customer. The dealer 

-5-
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and customer are left free to arrange price and other benefits 

under the contract. GMAC has neither personal contact with the 

customer nor an opportunity to communicate with the customer 

and must necessarily rely upon the information forwarded at the 

time of the proposed assignment of the contract by the auto­

mobile dealer. Specifically, in the instant case, GMAC did not 

deal with the Defendants, either personally, directly, or 

indirectly. 

When Defendants arranged for the purchase of the 

automobile in question, a 1977 Chevrolet Malibu Classic, their 

dealings were strictly with Streator Chevrolet. (R. 476-480). 

The election of Defendant Hector Martinez to acquire a 

disability insurance contract, was a determination which he was 

entirely free to accept or reject. (R. 367, 368). 

Upon receipt of the contract, GMAC approved the same for 

financing and forwarded the requisite balance to the dealer 

including funds to finance the insurance premium for disability 

insurance. However, GMAC is in no way affiliated with Great 

Equity Life. (R. 357). This matter was left between the selling 

dealer and the customer. 

At the conclusion of Plaintiff's case, Plaintiff's counsel 

requested leave of Court to give evidence relative to attorneys 

fees following a final decision of the merits by the Court or 

jury, it being the position of counsel for Plaintiff that the 

attorneys fees were a matter to be determined by the Court and 
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not the jury. ( R. 336; 34 4 ). Counsel for Defendants objected 

thereto. (R. 342). 

After the decision of the jury, Counsel for Plaintiff made 

a motion for entry of judgment and for a determination of 

attorneys fees. (R. 336). This matter was scheduled for hearing 

but was continued at the request of Counsel for Defendants to the 

2nd of December, 1981. (R. 338). On December 2nd, Counsel for 

Plaintiff appeared at the hearing, after having previously 

submitted an affidavit for attorneys fees and was prepared, if 

necessary, to give testimony at that time. Counsel for 

Defendants did not appear at the. hearing and after reviewing the 

matter, Judge Condor executed judgment in favor of the Plaintiff 

and, based on the affidavit supplied, (R. 340) awarded an 

attorneys fee of $2,500.00. (R. 539, 540). 

The only issues raised by Defendants which appear to 

challenge the judgment rendered in favor of GMAC are parts four 

and six of Defendants' Brief. Therefore, Plaintiff responds 

only to these issues, and to the facts as construed by 

Defendants' Counsel. 

ARGUMENT 

POINT I 

WHETHER A PURCHASER OF A MOTOR VEHICLE UNDER A CONDITIONAL 
SALE CONTRACT, WHICH PROVIDES FOR THE FINANCING OF A PREMIUM OF 
A DISABILITY INSURANCE POLICY BY THE FINANCING INSTITUTION IS 
ENTITLED TO WITHHOLD PAYMENTS ON THE CONTRACT TO THE FINANCING 
INSTITUTION WHEN THE DISABILITY CARRIER DISPUTES THE RIGHT OF 
THE DISABLED PURCHASER TO CLAIM THE BENEFITS OF THE POLICY. 
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Counsel for Defendants suggests that GMAC, by virtue of 

its accepting the contract of sale between Defendants and 

Streator Chevrolet for financing, caused GMAC to stand in the 

shoes of Great Equity Life. Therefore, it is alleged that GMAC 

was obligated to be paid by Great Equity Life or forfeit pay­

ments due under the contract. This theory of Counsel for 

Defendants is apparently predicated upon the fact that GMAC 

stood to benefit both under the sales contract and under the 

policy issued by Great Equity Life. However, no authority to 

support such a proposition is cited by Counsel. 

It is clear from the evidence and as found by the lower 

Court, that GMAC received by assignment a conditional sale 

contract from Streator Chevrolet, which it accepted for finan­

cing. (R. 524). Also it is undisputed that at the receipt of 

the contract by GMAC the contract, on its face, indicated that 

Defendant Hector Martinez requested disability insurance and 

that the same was to be financed out of the proceeds to be paid 

by GMAC to Streator Chevrolet. See Plaintiff's Exhibit "l": 

(R. 369). Also, the contract is specifically clear that Defendants, 

not Great Equity Life, were to pay the contract. 

The evidence did adduce that the purpose of the disability 

policy was to pay the obligation of Defendant, if Hector 

Martinez became disabled within the stipulated provisions of the 

insurance contract, and that Great Equity Life recognized the 

obligation to pay GMAC, the creditor. See Defendant's Exhibit 
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"22". However, this was not a part of the sales contract. 

Under the law of this state and established rules of 

contract, all provisions of an agreement should be considered 

and given effect [Minshew v. Chevron Oil Company, 575 P.2d 
( 

192 (Utah 1978)], and when the language is clear, it must 

be enforced according to its terms. Wingets v. Bitters, 

28 Utah 2d 231, 500 P. 2d 1007 (1972). A court will not 

rewrite the terms of an unambiguous contract [Provo City Cory. 

v. Nielson Sco~t Company, Inc., 603 P.2d 803 (Utah 1979)], 

and a contract does not become ambiguous (so as to cause a court 

to rewrite it) by the fact that the parties may urge diverse 

interpretations. Jones v. Hinkle, 611 P.2d 733, 735 (Utah 1980). 

Also, when the terms of a contract are clear and unambiguous, the 

contract is conclusive. Rushing v. Lov~lace-Bataan Health 

Program, 598 P.2d 211 (New Mex. 1979). 

As concerns a question of rights of a party, not a party 

to a contract, but for whose benefit the contract was made, 

it is well settled, that the rights of the third person to sue 

under the contract are dependent upon the terms of the agreement 

and are no greater than those of the promisee. Continental Bank 

and Trust Company v. Stewart
1

4 Utah 2d 228, 291 P. 2d 890, 894 

(1955). 

A reading of the contract of sale in the instant case 

clearly establishes the obligation of Defendants to pay on the 

contract. Nowhere does the agreement specify the right of the 

-9-
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Defendant to withhold payment if the buyer became disabled 

or, upon becoming disabled, if the insurance carrier refused to 

pay. Further, the contract does not give the right to the buyer 

to withhold payment if he disagrees with the refusal of the 

insurance carrier to pay under its contract. 

The contract of insurance was between Hector Martinez and 

Great Equity Life Insurance Company. GMAC, although a 

beneficiary, was not a party to the contract. Consequently, 

when a dispute arose as to whether Hector Martinez was within 

the coverage provisions of the policy, that dispute was for him 

to resolve, and if possible, to force the insurance carrier to 

perform its contract. The fact GMAC may have had an interest 

and claim as a third party beneficiary did not suddenly 

terminate the sales agreement. The rights of GMAC as a third 

party beneficiary would be no greater than those of Hector

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